
IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
NORTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

GAINESVILLE DIVISION

   UNITED STATES OF AMERICA

vs.  CASE NO. 1:09CR-31-MMP/AK

OCTAVIUS LEE DURDLEY
                                                              /

MOTION TO SUPPRESS AND BRIEF IN SUPPORT

The Defendant, OCTAVIUS LEE DURDELY, by and through undersigned counsel

hereby files this Motion to Suppress and Brief in Support and respectfully requests this Court to

issue an order : 

(1)  Suppressing physical evidence pursuant to Fed. R. Crim. P. 12(b)(3); 

(2) Suppressing certain statements pursuant to Fed. R. Crim. P. 12 (b)(3); 

(3) For such further such relief as the Court may deem just and proper. 

For the reasons that follow, the Court should grant this relief. 
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1 All exhibit numbers herein refer to Exhibits listed in the Appendix in Support of the
Defendant’s Motion to Suppress, which is being filed simultaneously with this Motion. 
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FACTS

1. The Defendant, Octavius Lee Durdley, was charged in a two count Indictment on

September 22, 2009, alleging distribution of child pornography in violation of 18 U.S.C.

2252A(a)(2)(A) and 2252A(b)(1), as well as possession of child pornography in violation

of 18 U.S.C. 2252A(a)(5)(B) and 2252A(b)(2).   

2. The Defendant has plead not guilty to these charges. 

3. The Government intends to use evidence that was seized during the execution of a search

at the Defendant’s residence on or about June 17, 2009.  

4. The Government searched the Defendant’s home pursuant to a Search Warrant

(hereinafter “the Warrant”) signed by Eighth Judicial Circuit Court Judge Stan R. Morris. 

(A copy of the Warrant is listed as “Exhibit 1")1.    

5. The Warrant was issued based on factual assertions made in an Affidavit for Search

Warrant (hereinafter “the Affidavit”) signed and submitted by Bradford County Sheriff

Office Detective Kevin Mueller.  (A copy of the Affidavit is listed as “Exhibit 2").     

6. Prior to July 17, 2009, the Defendant was employed as a paramedic with Bradford

County Emergency Services (hereinafter referred to as “EMS”). 

7. On July 16, 2009, Bradford County EMS Operations Captain Ron Johnson discovered a

removable digital media storage device (commonly known as a “thumb drive” or “jump

drive”) plugged into a computer located at a mobile EMS housing station, known as a

Medic Station 2, in Bradford County, Theressa, Florida.     
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2 Relevant portions of the depositions which were cited in this Motion are being filed as
Exhibits in the Appendix in Support of the Motion to Suppress.  All of these depositions were
taken pursuant to the state discovery rules in Bradford County case State of Florida v. Octavius
Durdely, 2009-CF-327.  Complete copies of the deposition will be made available to the Court
and the Government upon request. 
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8.  It is common for Bradford County EMS employees to work shifts in excess of twenty-

four (24) or more hours and to need locations for temporary residence and shelter while

on duty.  

9. Bradford County EMS utilizes at least three Medic Stations, which serve in part, as

temporary housing, living quarters, and work stations for EMS employees. 

10. Bradford County EMS Director Allen Parrish has acknowledged that the Medic Stations

are makeshift residences.  (See Exhibit 3, Deposition2 of Allen Parrish, page 5/lines 16-

22). 

11.  At all times relevant, the Bradford County EMS did not have any written policies

detailing an EMS employee’s expectation of privacy within the Medic Stations.  All of

the rules regarding privacy expectations came from the verbal commands of Director

Parrish.  (See Exhibit 3, Parrish Deposition, page 6/lines 7-16). 

12. According to Director Parrish, his employees did have an expectation of privacy within

the Medic Stations.  Director Parrish specifically acknowledged that an EMS employee,

such as the Defendant, had an expectation of privacy in his closed containers located in

the common areas of the Medic Stations.  See Exhibit 3, Parrish Deposition, page 8/lines

15-24).   

13. At all times relevant to this case, all Bradford County EMS employees, including

Paramedic Ron Johnson and Director Allen Parrish, were employed and compensated by
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the government. 

14. At all times relevant to this case, Ron Johnson and Allen Parrish were acting in their

official capacity as government employees. 

15. When Ron Johnson discovered the thumb drive, it was plugged into a computer, which

was located in a common area of Medic Station 2.  

16. The files on the thumb drive were closed and were not opened or plainly visible when

Ron Johnson began to use the computer. 

17. In order to access the files on the thumb drive, Ron Johnson had to first open the closed

thumb drive by double mouse clicking on the “My Computer” icon on his computer, then

double clicking on the icon assigned to the thumb drive.  

18. Prior to taking these deliberate steps to open the thumb drive, the contents on the thumb

drive were not open and visible on the computer and were not visible to Ron Johnson. 

19. After opening the thumb drive, Ron Johnson then noticed that a series of file names

appeared on the desktop of the computer. 

20. Ron Johnson could tell from the titles of these files that the thumb drive did not belong to

him.  See Exhibit 4, Johnson deposition page 16/lines 22-24. 

21. Before opening any of the video documents, which contained alleged child pornography,

Ron Johnson was able to tell that several of the documents on the thumb drive were

written by the Defendant, Octavius Durdley.  See Exhibit 4, Johnson deposition, page

18/lines 2-7.  

22. After realizing that the thumb drive did not belong to him and that it appeared to belong

to Octavius Durdley, Ron Johnson did not abort his search of the thumb drive, but instead
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continued to open files, including files that allegedly appeared to contain images of child

pornography.        

23. At the time of this search, Ron Johnson was the operations captain and one of the

Defendant’s supervisors.  See Exhibit 4, Johnson deposition, page 5/lines 5-17.  

24. After accessing these files, Ron Johnson contacted his own supervisor, Director Allen

Parrish. 

25. Director Parrish contacted Bradford County Sheriff Gordon Smith, who in turn contacted

one his deputies, Raymond Shuford, to retrieve and examine the thumb drive. 

26. Deputy Shuford arrived at Medic Station 2, conducted a warrantless search and then

warrantless seizure of the thumb drive.  

27. At the time of Deputy Shuford’s search of the thumb drive, he was aware that the drive

belonged to the Defendant.  See Exhibit 5, deposition of Raymond Shuford, pages 10 and

11.  

28.  At approximately 11:45 p.m. on June 16, 2009, Deputy Shuford, after seizing the thumb

drive, contacted Detective Kevin Mueller, who is also with the Bradford County Sheriff’s

Office. 

29. On June 17, 2009, at approximately 8 a.m., Det. Mueller reviewed the contents of the

thumb drive.  

30. Approximately two hours later, Det. Mueller made contact with Octavius Durdley, took

him into custody and escorted him to an interview room in the Sheriff’s office.  See

Exhibit 6, deposition of Kevin Mueller, page 20/lines 1-7.  

31. Det. Mueller then confronted the Defendant with the evidence that was obtained from the
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warrantless search of the thumb drive. 

32. During this interview, the Defendant indicated that he downloaded pornography from his

residence, which was located in Alachua County, Florida, but did not affirmatively state

that he had ever knowingly downloaded child pornography from his residence. 

33. After the interview with the Defendant, law enforcement decided to get a search warrant

for the Defendant’s residence in Alachua County. 

34. In support of the Warrant, Det. Mueller executed an Affidavit for Search Warrant.

35. In the Affidavit, Det. Mueller indicated that he had experience and training “in child

exploitation and child pornography investigations”.

36. Based on this training and experience, Det. Mueller represented to the Court that there

were “certain characteristics common to many individuals involved in the receipt and

collection of child pornography” and affirmatively told the Court that certain behaviors

have “been documented by law enforcement officers involved in the investigation of

child pornography throughout the world”.  

37. In reality, Det. Mueller had absolutely no training or education in child pornography

cases, (see Exhibit 6, Mueller deposition, page 6/line 24 through page 7/line 17), and his

only experience included that he had once before assisted the Florida Attorney General’s

Office in a search of a defendant’s home who was suspected for child pornography (see

Exhibit 6, Mueller deposition, page 8/line 18 through page 9/line 6).  

38. In the Affidavit, Det. Mueller indicated that he “has received specialized training

concerning the investigation of exploited children and has conducted such investigations

since the year 2001".  
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39. In reality, this “specialized training” was a 40-hour course that Det. Mueller took

approximately six years ago, and this course had absolutely nothing to do with child

pornography cases.  See Exhibit 6, Mueller deposition, page 7/lines 1-12.  

40. In the Affidavit, Det. Mueller indicated the Defendant admitted ownership of the jump

drive; however, Det. Mueller failed to indicate that the Defendant denied having

knowledge that the jump drive contained images of alleged child pornography.   

41. In the Affidavit, Det. Mueller indicated that “Octavius Durdely also stated that he

commonly downloads pornography from the internet using ‘lime wire’”.  (Emphasis

added).  

42. Octavius Durdely did not make any statements about intentionally downloading “child

pornography”, and in fact, there was no allegation in the Affidavit that there would be

“child pornography” found at the residence.  

43. The Defendant affirmatively stated that he would have immediately deleted any image

that appeared to have been child pornography (see Exhibit 6,  Mueller deposition, page

29/lines 6-13), and that he would not have suspected to find child pornography on the

computers at the Alachua residence.  Det. Mueller omitted these facts from the Affidavit.  

44. Det. Mueller has acknowledged that Octavius Durdley never admitted that he knowingly

possessed the child pornography that was found on the jump drive.  See Exhibit 6,

Mueller deposition, page 28/lines 13-17.

45. Det. Mueller has indicated that some of the language, which detailed the common

characteristics of child pornographers that he included in the Affidavit, was

“piggybacked from another search warrant where someone(else) did a search warrant like
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this”.  See Exhibit 6, Mueller deposition, page 39/lines 13-25).  

46. Det. Mueller admitted, despite his assertions in the Affidavit, that he is not a “specialized

detective working in child pornography”.  See Exhibit 6, Mueller deposition page

42/lines 20-25.
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ISSUE I

THE GOVERNMENT INCLUDED EVIDENCE IN THE
AFFIDAVIT FOR SEARCH WARRANT THAT WAS
UNLAWFULLY OBTAINED AND SHOULD BE SUPPRESSED

  
In the case at hand, the government searched the contents of the Defendant’s thumb drive

without a warrant.  It is well established law that warrantless searches are per se unreasonable,

unless the search is justified by one of a few well established exceptions.  See U.S. v. Gonzalez,

71 F.3d 819 (11th Cir. 1996)(citing to Mincey v. Arizona, 437 U.S. 385, 390, 98 S.Ct. 2408, 2412,

57 L.Ed.2d 290 (1978)).  

When considering Fourth Amendment privacy issues involving computers, courts have

commonly analogized computers to items such as “suitcases, footlockers, or other personal items

that ‘command a high degree of privacy’”.  See U.S. v. Andrus, 483 F.3d 711, 718 (10th Cir.

2007)(quoting U.S. v. Salinas-Cano, 959 F.2d 861, 864 (10th Cir. 1992).  In the instant case, the

Defendant had an expectation of privacy in his personal property, the thumb drive.  This device

was located in a temporary residential and work facility, known as a medic station, that the

Defendant regularly used for overnight stays.  There were no written policies that governed the

privacy expectation in these stations; however, the staff and leadership of the Bradford County

EMS clearly recognized that employees enjoyed privacy rights within the medic stations.  EMS

Director Allen Parrish recognized that an employee had legitimate expectation of privacy in their

closed containers that were located in these medic stations.  The contents of the thumb drive

were not readily apparent to Paramedic Ron Johnson prior to his search of the drive.  In order to

access files that contained the suspected child pornography on the drive, Johnson had to take to

take at least three steps, including clicking on the my computer icon, accessing the appropriate
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drive directory, and then beginning to search the individual files on the thumb drive.  Moreover,

before he was able to access the suspected child pornography, Johnson was clearly aware that the

thumb drive did not belong to him and that it belonged to the Defendant, Octavius Durdley.  

In the instant case, Ron Johnson was working in his capacity as a government agent and

was one of the Defendant’s supervisors.  Since the Defendant had a reasonable expectation of

privacy in the contents of the thumb drive, the warrantless search conducted by Ron Johnson

triggered the protections of the Fourth Amendment.  Courts have recognized that “searches and

seizures by government employers or supervisors of the private property of their employees,

therefore, are subject to the restraints of the Fourth Amendment”.  See O’Connor v. Ortega, 480

U.S. 709, 715, 107 S.Ct. 1492, 1496 (1987); Reyes v. Maschmeier, 446 F.3d 1199, 1203 (11th

Cir. 2006).  

If the Court finds that the search of the thumb drive was unlawful, then all of the

evidence that flowed from its discovery is also subject to suppression.  In this case, the evidence

that should be suppressed includes statements made by the Defendant and the evidence collected

from the Defendant’s residence pursuant to the Warrant.  The Defendant’s statements were made

during an interrogation by Det. Mueller, who specifically questioned the Defendant about the

thumb drive and its contents.  Det. Mueller then made reference to the contents of the thumb

drive in the Affidavit for Search Warrant.  Law enforcement did not have any basis to know

about the contents of the thumb drive independent of the illegal search as detailed above.  Courts

have held that “under the fruit-of-the-poisonous-tree doctrine, evidence obtained as a result and

by exploitation of an illegal search, including verbal statements, is also subjection to exclusion”. 

See U.S. v. Molina-Garcia, 2009 WL 3837326 (11th Cir. 2009)(citing to Wong Sun v. U.S., 371
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U.S. 471, 485, 488, 83 S.Ct. 407, 416, 418, 9 L.Ed.2d 441 (1963).  As such, the Defendant

respectfully requests that this Court enter an order suppressing the evidence obtained from the

execution of the search warrant and the statements made by the Defendant during his interview

with law enforcement, as all of this evidence arose from the unlawful search of his property in

violation of the Fourth Amendment of the United States Constitution.    
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ISSUE 2

THE GOVERNMENT INCLUDED FALSE AND MISLEADING
STATEMENTS IN THE AFFIDAVIT FOR SEARCH WARRANT AND
THOSE  STATEMENTS SHOULD BE REDACTED WHEN
CONSIDERING  WHETHER  THERE  WAS PROBABLE CAUSE FOR
THE ISSUANCE OF THE SEARCH WARRANT 

The Affidavit for Search Warrant, which was submitted by Det. Kevin Mueller,

contained false and misleading statements regarding his training and experience.  When

preparing the Affidavit, Detective Mueller used approximately three pages to list the facts that he

claimed supported the probable cause for the Warrant (See Exhibit 2, the Affidavit, pages 2-5). 

He first described the manner that the thumb drive was obtained in Bradford county and then

described his physical search and review of the material on the drive.  Detective Mueller

followed this with a very limited rendition of his interview with the Defendant: 

On June 17, 2009 Your Affiant conducted a police interview with Octavius
Durdley who admitted to ownership of the device.  Octavius Durdley stated
that he commonly uses the device for storing documents used for his
employment.  Octavius Durdley also stated that he commonly downloads
pornography from the internet using “lime wire.”  Octavius Durdley performs
the downloads onto his personally owned computer located at his residence.
Octavius Durdley described his residence as the residence to be searched.  See
Affidavit, page 3. 

Det. Mueller then included an extensive rendition of his purported experience with child

pornography investigations and knowledge regarding the habits and practices of child

pornographers.

Based upon your Affiant’s knowledge, experience, and training in
child exploitation and child pornography investigations, there are certain
characteristics common to many individuals involved in the receipt and
collection of child pornography. Collectors of child pornography often
possess and maintain “hard copies” of child pornographic material such as
pictures, films, video tapes, magazines, negatives, photographs,
correspondence, mailing lists, books, tape recordings, etc., in the privacy and
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security of their home or some other secure location. Child pornography
collectors typically retain pictures, films, photographs, negatives, magazines,
correspondence, books, tape recordings, mailing lists, child erotica, and video
tapes for many years, and rarely, if ever, dispose of these materials. Likewise,
collectors of child pornography often maintain their digital or electronic
collections in a format that is safe, secure and private, such as a computer
and/or back-up storage discs or other forms of data storage devices. These
collections are rarely, if ever, destroyed, and are kept close by, usually at the
collector’s residence, to enable the collector to view the collection, which to
them is highly valued. Child pornography collectors also may correspond with
and/or meet others to share information and materials, rarely destroy
correspondence from other child pornography distributors/collectors, conceal
such correspondence as they do their sexually explicit material, and often
maintain lists of names, addresses, and telephone numbers of individual with
whom they have been in contact and who share the same interests in child
pornography. Collectors of child pornography prefer not to be without their
child pornography for any prolonged time period. This behavior has been
documented by law enforcement officers involved in the investigation of child
pornography throughout the world.

Your Affiant knows from training and experience that computers used to
access the Internet usually contain files, logs or file remnants which would
tend to show ownership and use of the computer as well as ownership and use
of Internet service accounts used for the internet access. In addition, your
Affiant knows that there is relevant data on the computer which can be used
to corroborate the user at any given time, such as time-stamped unrelated
activity made contemporaneously with criminal acts described herein. Your
Affiant is aware that search warrants of residences involved in computer
related criminal activity usually yield items that would tend to establish
ownership or use of computers and ownership or use of any Internet service
accounts accessed to obtain child pornography to include credit card bills,
telephone bills, correspondence and other identification documents. Search
Warrants of residences usually reveal items that would tend to show dominion
and control of the property or premises searched, to include utility bills,
telephone bills, correspondence, rental agreements and other identification
documents.  (Emphasis added).

The reality was that Det. Mueller did not have any of this experience, training or first

hand knowledge that he indicated in this Affidavit.  He has subsequently admitted that at the

time he submitted the Affidavit he did not have any specialized training in child pornography

cases.  He had not taken a single class, or attended a single conference, or been part of any
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training that would have given him the insight and experience about “collectors of child

pornography”.  In addition to having no formal training, his “on the job training” was limited to

attending one execution of one search warrant in one previous case.  When asked to explain the

discrepancies between the reality of the depth of his experience and the experience that he

reported in the Affidavit, Det. Mueller’s explained that he was “piggybacking” the language

from other affidavits authored by other law enforcement officers.  See Exhibit 6, Deposition of

Kevin Mueller, page 36/lines 5-10, page 39/lines 13-25, page 40/lines 1-7. 

Affidavits for warrants are presumed to be valid.  See U.S. v. Kaporedelis, 569 F.3d

1291, 1309 (11th Cir. 2009)(citing to Franks v. Delaware, 438 U.S. 154, 171, 98 S.Ct. 2674, 57

L.Ed2d 667 (1978).  In order to have a evidentiary hearing on a motion to suppress based on a

misrepresentation, it is the Defendant’s burden to make a preliminary showing that the affiant

made false or misleading statements and that the “false statements were necessary to a finding of

probable cause”.  Id.    

A law enforcement officer’s experience and training is a factor used by courts in

determining whether a warrant is supported by probable cause.  See U.S. v. Zyas-Diaz, 95 F.3d

105, 111 (1st Cir. 1996).  Once the Court determines that statements were misrepresentations and

that these statements were material, the next step is for the Court to determined whether, after

having these statements redacted, whether the Affidavit would have still supported the issuance

of the Warrant.  See id.  (A copy of the proposed Redacted Affidavit is included with the

Appendix as Exhibit 7).  It is without question that Det. Mueller’s statements regarding his

training and experience with child pornography were misrepresentations of his qualifications.  It

is also equally apparent that these statements went to the very elements necessary to establish a
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nexus for probable cause.  Since no contraband had been found at the Alachua residence, only

someone trained in child pornography investigations could give the opinions that discovery of a

thumb drive in Bradford County could be expected to produce child pornography in Alachua

County. Det. Mueller’s statements regarding his training and experience were intended to form

the nexus between the alleged contraband found on the thumb drive in Bradford County and the

Defendant’s residence in Alachua County.  If the false statements regarding the training and

experience are redacted from the Affidavit, then the only facts remaining in the Affdavit concern

the contraband found in Bradford County and there is not a sufficient nexus for a search at the

Alachua County residence.   

The Court may also consider whether some other exception existed that would have

allowed the search despite the illegal police conduct.  Courts have warned that if a warrant is

issued based on a “deliberate or reckless material misstatement”, then the good faith exception

will not apply and the evidence is subject to exclusion.  See U.S. v. Alvarez, 127 F.3d 372 (5th

Cir. 1997)(citing to U.S. v. Leon, 468 U.S. 897, 920, 104 S.Ct. 3405, 3418-19, 82 L.Ed.2d 677

(1984)).  Additionally, the “inevitable discovery” doctrine is not applicable in this case because

alternative lawful means of recovering the evidence at the Alachua County residence were not

actively being pursued prior to the illegal conduct.  See U.S. v. Virden, 488 F.3d 1317, 1322-23

(11th Cir. 2007). 

Accordingly, the Court should find that there were material misrepresentations regarding

the Det. Mueller’s qualifications and experience, that once these qualifications are redacted from

the Affidavit that there is not probable cause to justify the warrant, and that the evidence

collected from the Defendant’s Alachua residence pursuant to the Warrant is suppressed.  
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CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the Defendant respectfully requests that the Court issue an

Order Suppressing physical evidence derived from the execution of Search Warrant, and

statements made by the Defendant during and after the execution of the Search Warrant, and as

well as such further relief as the Court deems just and proper. 

  CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE
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